017

FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 9 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 81,544

FELICE JOHN VEACH,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WENDY S. MORRIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0890537

JAMES W. ROGERS
BUREAU CHIEF
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court and Appellee in the district court of appeal, shall be referred to herein as "the State." Respondent, FELICE JOHN VEACH, defendant in the trial court and Appellant in the district court of appeal, will be referred to herein as "Respondent." References to the record on appeal, including the transcripts of the proceedings below, will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 25, 1990, Respondent as to circuit court case 90-2027 entered into a plea agreement (R Therein, Respondent agreed to plead nolo contendere to two counts of a lewd and lascivious act in the presence of a child, one count of lewd and lascivious sexual battery and one count of sexual battery, in exchange for a five-year term of probation (R 9-10). During the first two years of the probationary term, Respondent was to be placed on community control (R 9-10). Respondent's recommended sentencing quidelines range was twelve to seventeen years' incarceration (R 13-14). On August 8, 1990, the trial court sentenced Respondent in accordance with the plea agreement (R 11-12, 61-61). Respondent did not appeal from this sentence.

On February 15, 1991, Respondent's community control officer filed with the court an affidavit of violation of community control (R 17). On March 26, 1992, Respondent entered pleas of no contest to the violations of community control, and the trial court found that Respondent violated his community control (R 21-34). As a result, the trial court adjudicated Respondent guilty of the four offenses, and the court sentenced Respondent to twenty years' incarceration as to the offense of sexual battery and to concurrent fifteen-year sentences as to the remaining three offenses (R 35).

In a decision reported at Veach v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D637 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 4, 1993), the First District Court of Appeal reversed the sentences of incarceration imposed after revocation of community control. On appeal, Veach argued that the sentences imposed after revocation must be reversed because the original sentences of probation were erroneous in that they were imposed without the trial court determining whether Respondent was suitable for adult Section 39.059(7)(c), sanctions, pursuant to Id. at D638. Citing Pendarvis v. State, 400 So. Statutes. 2d 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), the State responded that

> appellant was sentenced pursuant to a negotiated plea bargain, combining community control and probation (R-11-12), that was far below the recommended quidelines sentence of twelve seventeen years (R-13-14). Appellant voluntarily waived the requirements of Section 39.059(7), when he requested this sentence and waived a presentence investigation (R-60). Having received the benefit of his bargain, appellant squandered the opportunity he given, when at the age of nineteen, he violated community control (R-17-19).

Petitioner's answer brief at 4-5. The State also cited Goldsmith v. State, 613 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), Novaton v. State, 610 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), and Preston v. State, 411 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), as supplemental authority.

The First District agreed with Veach, stating:

Failure to follow the provisions of section 39.059(7)(c) in sentencing a juvenile as an adult requires remand resentencing, regardless objection. State v. Rhoden, 448 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1984). juvenile can waive his right to findings under section 39.059(7)(c)(1-6) before being sentenced as an adult, Rhoden, that waiver must be knowing, intelligent and manifest on the record. <u>Hill v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1210, 1211 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Without such a waiver, it is reversible error for a trial court to impose adult sanctions upon a juvenile without making the required findings, even though sanctions were imposed pursuant to a negotiated plea agreement which omitted any reference to the statute. Walker at 1341-42.

Here, there was no waiver Veach, either at the original sentencing proceeding or in the written plea agreement, of his right to section 39.059(7)(c) findings prior to adult Case sentencing in No. 90-2027. [Footnote omitted].

On April 5, 1993, Petitioner timely filed its notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. On April 15, 1993, the State filed its brief on jurisdiction, arguing that the <u>Veach</u> decision was in express and direct conflict with the Third District's decision in <u>Preston</u>, <u>supra</u>. On April 23, 1993, Respondent filed his brief on jurisdiction, arguing that the <u>Veach</u> decision was not in express and direct conflict with <u>Preston</u> because <u>Preston</u> was overruled by this Court's decision in <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1984). On June 30, 1993, this Court accepted jurisdiction over the instant case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal erred in reversing Respondent's sentences of fifteen and twenty incarceration. First, Respondent's original sentences were not erroneous. As Respondent agreed to such sentences in his plea agreement, the trial court was not required to determine that Respondent was suited to adult sanctions under Section 39.059(7), Florida Statutes. Respondent waived his right to contest the legality of his original sentences because he did not appeal from them; rather, he enjoyed the benefits of community control until he violated it. In the event that this Court finds that it must reverse Respondent's sentences, the remedy is to set aside the plea and to reinstate the original charges. The parties, then, may elect to plead anew or to go to trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN REVERSING RESPONDENT'S SENTENCES OF INCARCERATION IMPOSED AFTER REVOCATION OF HIS ORIGINAL SENTENCES OF COMMUNITY CONTROL AND PROBATION ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE ORIGINAL SENTENCES WERE ERRONEOUS.

In circuit court case no. 90-2027, Respondent entered into a plea agreement wherein he agreed to an adult sentence of community control and probation (R 9-10). Respondent did not appeal from this sentence. Respondent subsequently violated his community control, and the trial court imposed concurrent fifteen and twenty-year terms of incarceration (R 35). For two reasons, the First District Court of Appeal erred in reversing the sentences of incarceration on the grounds that Respondent's original sentences were erroneous. Veach v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D637 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 4, 1993).

First, Veach's original sentences of community control probation were proper because Veach waived findings of suitability under entitlement to 39.059(7), Florida Statutes, when he entered into a plea agreement for an adult sentence. In Pendarvis v. State, 400 2d 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), Pendarvis pled to an So. unspecified adult sentence, which the trial court imposed without determining whether he suited was sanctions. On direct appeal, the Fifth District affirmed the sentence, stating:

[H]ere it is clear from the record the sentence was the result of a plea bargaining process agreed to by the parties and the judge and clearly not an otherwise illegal sentence. Of course, appellant did not object below. We would be hard put to try to explain to the trial judge where he erred when he did everything everyone, except appellate counsel, agreed to.

Similarly, Veach agreed to his original sentence of five years' probation in a plea bargain. Thus, as in <u>Pendarvis</u>, the trial court in the instant case was not required to determine whether Respondent was suited to adult sanctions, under Section 39.059(7), Florida Statutes.

The instant plea bargain to an adult sentence is analogous to cases where a defendant plea bargained for a departure sentence, which the trial court imposed without enunciating departure reasons as required by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11). For example, in Smith v. State, 529 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1988), the defendant pled guilty to armed robbery in exchange for a maximum sentence of twenty years' incarceration. Smith's guidelines range called for a sentence between four and one-half and five and one-half years' incarceration. Id. at 1007. The trial court imposed a sentence of twelve years' incarceration without delineating written reasons for departure. This Court upheld the departure sentence, stating:

> A negotiated plea agreement is a valid reason upon which to base a departure from the presumptive guidelines sentence. Quarterman v. State, 527 So.

(Fla. 1380 1988). The state negotiated with Smith based on strength of the case it has against him . . Although only one charge was involved in Smith's plea agreement, the agreement still constitutes a clear and convincing reason for departure. It is clear from the record that Smith agreed to the plea to avoid the risk of a the maximum sentence under Obviously he and his attorney thought the chance of his conviction for this offense was great. Nothing in the record indicates the plea was coerced or that Smith did not enter the plea freely and voluntarily, and knowingly and intelligently upon counseling by a competent attorney.

See also White v. State, 531 So. 2d 711, 712 (Fla. 1988) (Departure sentence of thirty years' imprisonment resulting from a negotiated plea to second-degree murder upheld despite lack of written reasons for departure). in the instant case, Respondent agreed to an adult sentence, i.e., a departure from juvenile sanctions. He does not contend that his plea entered unknowingly was unintelligently. Thus, his original sentence of probation and community control was valid because the trial court was not required to make the statutory findings.

Respondent's sentences of incarceration should be reinstated for a second reason. Having fully accepted the terms of his plea bargain by not appealing from his original sentence, Respondent waived his right to question the legality of the original punishment. In <u>Preston v. State</u>, 411 So. 2d 297, 298 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), Preston met the criteria of the Youthful Offender Act, which required that a

defendant be sentenced as a youthful offender once the statutory criteria were met. Id. Pursuant to a plea agreement, however, Preston pled guilty to robbery with a deadly weapon in exchange for adult probation. Id. Subsequently, the trial court revoked his probation, and On appeal from the new imposed a new sentence. Id. sentence, Preston contended that the sentence was erroneous because his original sentence had been erroneous. Id. Specifically, Preston argued that he was entitled to be sentenced as a youthful offender upon revocation of his probation because he should have been sentenced as youthful offender in the first instance. Id. The Youthful Offender Act required that a youthful offender who violated probation be resentenced within the limitations of the act. The Third District disagreed with Preston, holding: Id.

> defendant Where, however, a sought designation as а youthful offender and was not sentenced to a period of incarceration, but was placed on probation, the terms of which he accepted, we hold that the defendant has waived his right to question the legality of a probation which he has enjoyed and violated. King v. State, 373 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), [cert. denied, 383 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980)].

In the instant case, Respondent also never sought designation as a juvenile; rather, he fully accepted the agreed upon probation until he violated it. Thus, Respondent waived any objection to the terms of his original punishment.

Similarly, in King, supra, at 78, which the Preston Court cited as authority, the defendant pled guilty to armed robbery in exchange for an illegal sentence of three years' imprisonment with the last two years suspended while Preston was placed on probation. Preston did not appeal Id. After Preston served his incarceration, he violated probation. Id. The trial court imposed a thirty-year term of imprisonment. Id. contended that his new sentence was unlawful because the original sentence of probation had been illegal. Id. The Third District disagreed, stating "that the defendant has waived his right to appeal the unlawfully lenient sentence by his failure to appeal therefrom and his subsequent acceptance of probation based on the conditions imposed." The court further stated that, "[h]aving fully accepted Id. the improper sentence in the prior proceedings, defendant may not subsequently come before the courts advocating a mutually inconsistent position." Id.

In a variety of contexts, the district courts of appeal have held

that sentences and other judicial actions which deviate from statutory and even constitutional requirements to the potential benefit of the defendant and to which he agreed may not be the subject of a successful challenge brought only after he has failed to carry any burden imposed upon him.

Madrigal v. State, 545 So. 2d 392, 394 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). See e.g., Gallagher v. State, 421 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) (attack on conditions of probation which were imposed pursuant to a plea agreement came too late, where it came only after a violation was charged); Clem v. State, 462 So. 2d 1134, 1136 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (court may revoke probation even though appellants should have been sentenced to community control over which only Parole and Probation Commission had jurisdiction; court would not entertain complaint of error in being placed on probation rather than community control because defendant accepted benefits of that placement); Pollock v. Bryson, 450 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (defendant who pled guilty in exchange for a three-year term of probation that included special condition of restitution was estopped from raising alleged legality of the condition); Bashlor v. State, 586 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), rev. denied, 598 So. 2d 75 (Fla. 1992) (defendant who pled quilty to first-degree murder and received sentence of probation could not challenge legality of probation after he violated it; although original sentence violated statute prohibiting imposition of probation for first-degree murder, scuh violation benefitted defendant).

Contrary to the First District's interpretation of this Court's decision in <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So. 2d 1013, 1015 (Fla. 1984), <u>Rhoden</u> does not control the outcome of the instant case. In <u>Rhoden</u>, the defendant was tried as an adult for the offense of discharging a destructive device.

Id. The jury found Rhoden guilty of the offense, and the trial court sentenced Rhoden to a mandatory ten-year term of incarceration. Id. Despite the fact that Rhoden was seventeen years old at the time he committed the offense, the trial court failed to determine whether Rhoden was suited to adult sanctions, pursuant to the predecessor to Section 39.059(7). Id.

Rhoden is distinguishable from the instant case and from Preston, supra. The only argument advanced by the State in Rhoden was that Rhoden's failure to object at the sentencing hearing to the trial court's failure to address statutory criteria waived the issue for appellate Id. at 1015-1016. review. The State did not make the argument advanced here, i.e., that a plea agreement obviates the need for the findings of suitability orRespondent's failure to appeal directly from the allegedly erroneous sentence waived any appeal of it now. Veach, Rhoden never agreed to serve an adult sentence in a plea bargain. Unlike Preston, Rhoden did not wait until after he took the benefit of his allegedly erroneous sentence before he contested its legality. Thus, the issue raised in the instant case and in Preston was not addressed by this Court in Rhoden, and Rhoden is inapplicable to both cases.

In <u>Croskey v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 1326, 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (en banc), Croskey entered a plea of nolo contendere

in exchange for a sentence of seven years' incarceration to be followed by five years' probation. The trial court did not determine whether Croskey was suited to adult sanctions prior to imposing the agreed upon sentence. <u>Id</u>. Croskey directly appealed the sentence, and the Second District reversed, stating:

It is possible that a juvenile could enter a negotiated plea in exchange for an adult sentence without being aware that he has the right to have his suitability for such sanctions considered under chapter 39. We are not satisfied that a plea entered under such circumstances, as in this case, would constitute an intelligent and knowing waiver of that right.

Id. at 1327-1328. The Second District's decision is not applicable to the instant case because it involves a direct appeal from the allegedly erroneous sentence. Croskey also is inapplicable because Respondent did not contend below that his plea was made unknowingly or unintelligently.

In the event that this Court finds that it must reverse Respondent's sentences, the proper remedy is not to correct the sentence. Rather, it is to set aside the plea and to reinstate the charges pending against Respondent prior to the plea. In Jolly v. State, 392 So. 2d 54, 55-56 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), the defendant pled guilty to shooting into an occupied vehicle in exchange for a three-year sentence and the State's decision to nol prosse a pending charge of shooting into a dwelling. The trial judge, prosecutor and

defense counsel erroneously believed that the judge had no discretion but to impose a three-year minimum mandatory under the statute. <u>Id</u>. at 56. Jolly subsequently filed a motion to correct his sentence, which the trial court denied. <u>Id</u>. Jolly appealed, and the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion to correct illegal sentence, stating:

As the negotiations were based on a material mistake of law, the plea was invalid and no legal sentence could be imposed. The remedy, in these circumstances, is not to correct the sentence but to set aside the plea (and the consequent judgment and sentence), and to reinstitute the two charges pending against the defendant prior to the invalid plea. [Citations omitted].

Id. The Fifth District further observed:

If the foundation of the sentence is defective, new sentence а cannot plea correct it. Only a new negotiation or a trial can remedy the problem at this point. To let the plea judgment stand would give the defendant the benefits of his bargain i.e., a three-year sentence cap and dismissal of the other charge - and would deny the state what it bargained for: a mandatory three-year sentence.

The State's negotiation was clearly based upon the premise that the defendant would receive a mandatory three-year sentence. If the plea negotiation is not binding upon the defendant, then it is not binding upon the state.

<u>Id</u>. The Fifth District remarked that Jolly's remedy was to file a motion to vacate judgment and sentence under Florida

Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. <u>Id</u>. <u>See also Hayes v</u>. State, 598 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

Similarly, in <u>Forbert v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 1079, 1081 (Fla. 1983), this Court adopted the reasoning of <u>Jolly</u> and stated:

It is a well-established principle law that a defendant should be allowed to withdraw a plea of guilty where the plea was based upon a misunderstanding or misapprehension of facts considered by the defendant in making the plea . . . Hence when a pleads guilty with defendant understanding that the sentence he or she receives in exchange is legal, when in fact the sentence is not legal, the defendant should be given opportunity to withdraw the plea when later challenging the legality of the sentence. Cleveland v. State, 394 So. 2d 230 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Britt v. State, 352 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). [Citations omitted].

In <u>Forbert</u>, the defendant pled guilty to robbery in exchange for a "split sentence" of five years' imprisonment and three years' probation. <u>Id</u>. at 1080. Forbert subsequently filed a motion to correct his illegal sentence, pursuant to <u>Villery v. Florida Parole and Probation Commission</u>, 396 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1981). The trial court imposed a sentence of eight years' incarceration with credit for time served, and Forbert moved to withdraw his plea. <u>Id</u>.

Forbert appealed, and this Court held that the trial court erred in denying Forbert's motion to withdraw his plea of guilty, stating:

Since Forbert, by moving to withdraw his plea of guilty has indicated a desire to be no longer bound by the original plea agreement, if he renews his motion the state will also be released from its obligations under that agreement. Therefore, if the court allows the withdrawal of the plea the state can insist that the original charges be reinstated against Forbert. [Citation omitted].

Id. at 1081. See also Forshee v. State, 579 So. 2d 388, 389 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) ("Just as a defendant is not bound by a misconceived bargain, the state likewise is not bound to accept a sentence it did not bargain for.").

In the instant case, the trial court, Respondent and the State erroneously believed that Section 39.059(7), Florida Statutes, was inapplicable to the instant sentence. However, the State's negotiation for a five-year term of probation and community control was premised upon the fact that Respondent would receive adult probation, which more strongly deters future criminal conduct than a juvenile sentence due to the nature of the consequences upon violation. If the plea negotiation in the instant case is not binding upon Respondent, it should not be binding upon the State. On remand, the State should be given the option of reinstating the original charges or of accepting the corrected sentence.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing legal authorities and arguments, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the decision of the First District Court of Appeal and reinstate the sentences rendered by the trial court in this case.