WOOA

## IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

FILED
SID J. WHITE
AUG 12 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURE
By—Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 81,544

FELICE JOHN VEACH,
Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR #197890

#

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v. : CASE NO. 81,544

FELICE JOHN VEACH,

Respondent. :

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the lower tribunal. Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as <a href="Veach v. State">Veach v. State</a>, 614 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). The two volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R," followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Petitioner's brief will be referred to as "PB," followed by the appropriate page number.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
Respondent accepts petitioner's recitation, PB at 2-4.

### III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent will argue in this brief that petitioner has not demonstrated any reason why this Court should grant review and reverse the First District. The holding of the First District was that the trial court erred in sentencing respondent, who was a juvenile at the time of the crime, as an adult, without compliance with the juvenile statute. The First District properly found no waiver of the juvenile statute from the silent record at the time respondent originally was placed on community control and probation, nor from the silent record at the time he received a state prison sentence. A very recent case from this Court is directly on point and requires affirmance.

### IV ARGUMENT

THE LOWER TRIBUNAL DID NOT ERR IN REVERSING RESPONDENT'S SENTENCES OF INCARCERATION IMPOSED AFTER REVOCATION OF COMMUNITY CONTROL AND PROBATION WHERE RESPONDENT NEVER WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO HAVE THE COURT DETERMINE WHETHER ADULT SANCTIONS WERE APPROPRIATE.

(Issue restated by respondent).

Amazingly, petitioner's brief ignores this Court's recent unanimous opinion in <u>Sirmons v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S356 (Fla. June 24, 1993), which is directly on point and requires affirmance of the lower tribunal's opinion. In <u>Sirmons</u>, the defendant, a juvenile who was waived into adult court, entered a plea of no contest in exchange for a nine year adult prison sentence. He received that sentence, but the judge failed to make the findings required by §39.111(7)(d), Fla. Stat. (1989). The Second District held that by entry of his plea, he had implicitly waived the right to have the findings made by the judge.

This Court quashed the Second District's view. This Court relied upon its previous opinion in Rhoden v. State, 448 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1984) and held:

However, before the plea agreement may be accepted by the court, the court must inform the juvenile of the rights provided by the Legislature under section 39.111 and insure that the juvenile voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waives those rights. Under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.170(d), courts are charged with the determination "that the circumstances surrounding the plea reflect a full understanding of the significance of the plea and its voluntariness." We find that in order for a juvenile to have a full understanding of the significance of the plea the juvenile must be made aware of the

rights that are waived by the plea agreement.

Applying the law to the instant case, we find that the record does not show that Sirmons gave a knowing and intelligent waiver of his rights under section 39.111. Thus, the instant case must be remanded for resentencing.

# 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S357.1

Sirmons requires affirmance of the opinion in the instant case. Respondent's written plea agreement (R 9-10) is silent with regard to any waiver of the right to the findings required by §39.059(7)(c), Fla. Stat. (1990 Supp.)<sup>2</sup>. Respondent's sentencing hearing at the time he received adult community control and probation (R 60-63) is silent with regard to any waiver of the right to the findings required by the statute.

The only difference between <u>Sirmons</u> and the instant case is that the error did not come to light in the instant case until an appeal was taken from the community control revocation. But that is a distinction without a difference, because respondent's sentencing hearing at the time he received adult prison sentences after violating community control and probation (R 33-37) is likewise silent with regard to any waiver of the right to the findings required by the statute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Chief Justice Barkett, in a specially concurring opinion, wondered whether a juvenile could ever waive the right to the statutory findings. Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This Court has noted that the statutory numbering scheme was changed in 1990, but "the rationale of this opinion also applies to section 39.059." 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S356, note 1.

Petitioner's citation to <u>Pendarvis v. State</u>, 400 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (PB at 6-7), is not good authority, since it has been <u>sub silentio</u> overruled by this Court's opinion in Sirmons.

Petitioner's analogy to guidelines departure cases (PB at 7-8) is not good authority, since they have absolutely nothing to do with the right of a juvenile to have the judge justify adult sanctions.

Petitioner's main argument is that respondent, having accepted community control and probation as an adult, waived his right to challenge his adult punishment (PB at 8-11). Such an argument cannot fly in the face of this Court's holding in <a href="Sirmons">Sirmons</a>, supra, that a waiver of a valuable statutory right cannot be inferred from a silent record.

The statute requires that the propriety of adult sanctions "...shall be determined by the court before any other determination of disposition." §39.059(7)(c), Fla. Stat. (1990 Supp.). There is no waiver provision in the statute. Respondent made no express waiver of the written findings, and we cannot infer a waiver from a silent record.

Petitioner fails to acknowledge the following cases, which both hold that entering a plea in adult court does not act as a waiver of the requirements of the statute: Sullivan v. State, 587 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); and Toussaint v. State, 592 So. 2d 770 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). See also McCray v. State, 588 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991), in which the court found no waiver, even though the defense attorney affirmatively asked

for adult probation, because there was no express waiver by the defendant.

See also the following quote from <u>Lang v. State</u>, 566 So. 2d 1354, 1357 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), which was cited with approval by this Court in Sirmons:

A juvenile can waive his rights under section 39.111 but such a waiver must be manifest either in the plea agreement or on the record. We can find no waiver in the present case.

Petitioner also fails to acknowledge the well-settled principle that one cannot agree to an illegal sentence. Williams v. State, 500 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1986).

Petitioner next boldly states that "Rhoden does not control the outcome of the instant case." PB at 11.

Petitioner fails to acknowledge that this Court reaffirmed its Rhoden holding in Sirmons, by quoting Rhoden as controlling authority:

As we noted in <u>Rhoden</u>, the <u>Legislature</u> has given "juveniles the <u>right</u> to be treated differently from adults." <u>Rhoden</u>, 448 So. 2d at 1016.

18 Fla. L. Weekly at S356-357 (emphasis in original).

Petitioner's citation to <u>Croskey v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 1326 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992) (PB at 12-13), is largely historical, since it has been <u>sub silentio</u> approved by this Court's opinion in Sirmons.

The remainder of petitioner's brief (PB at 13-16) is a discussion of what remedy petitioner is entitled to, assuming it succeeds in having this Court overturn the lower tribunal's

opinion in this case. Respondent sees no need to address this part of petitioner's brief, since petitioner has failed to attempt to distinguish, or even acknowledge, the controlling authority of <u>Sirmons</u>.

### V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, respondent submits that this Court should decline to grant review, or, in the alternative, must approve the opinion of the lower tribunal.

Respectfully Submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER

Fla. Bar No. 197890 Assistant Public Defender Chief, Appellate Division

Leon County Courthouse Suite 301

301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

Attorney for Respondent